

Safety Manual

TO REDUCE & ELIMINATE INCIDENTS THAT WOULD RESULT IN INJURY OR ILLNESS TO ALL COUNTY WORKERS

SALINE COUNTY SAFETY COMMITTEE

Table of Contents

| Chapter 1 - Introduction, Objectives and Goal | 5 |
|---|----|
| Introduction | 5 |
| Objectives | 5 |
| Goal | 6 |
| Chapter 2 - Responsibilities | 7 |
| Responsibilities – Management | 7 |
| Responsibilities – Employees | 7 |
| County Safety Committee | 7 |
| Non-Compliance | 8 |
| Chapter 3 - Training | 9 |
| Training Program | 9 |
| Chapter 4 - Drug and Alcohol Use | 10 |
| Prohibited on the Job | 10 |
| Therapeutic Medications | 10 |
| Chapter 5 - Reports and Investigation | 12 |
| Incident Statements and Reports | 12 |
| Work-Related Injury or Illness | 12 |
| Injury, Fatality or Property Damage | 12 |
| "Near Hit" or Other Hazardous Conditions or Acts | 12 |
| Investigation by Management and County Safety Committee | 13 |
| Chapter 6 - Emergency Plan | 14 |
| Emergency Plans | 14 |
| Fire – Fire Extinguisher Use | 14 |
| FIRE – Evacuation Procedure | 15 |
| Medical Emergency | 15 |
| First Aid Kits | 16 |
| Weather | 17 |
| Bloodborne Pathogens | 17 |
| Violence in the Workplace | 18 |
| Chapter 7 - General Safety | 19 |
| Be Observant of Surrounding Conditions | 19 |
| Use Personal Protective Equipment | 19 |

| Poor Housekeeping | |
|--|----|
| Lifting or Exerting Force | |
| Use of Ladders Versus Use of Non-Approved Objects | 20 |
| Report Defective Equipment and Safety Hazards | 20 |
| Work Habits | 20 |
| Chapter 8 - Office Safety | 21 |
| General | 21 |
| Ergonomics | 22 |
| File Cabinets | 23 |
| Material and Office Supply Storage | 23 |
| Cutting and Attaching Equipment | 24 |
| Office Furniture and Equipment | 24 |
| Electrical Equipment and Cords | 25 |
| Space Requirements | 26 |
| Housekeeping | 26 |
| First Aid Kits | 26 |
| Chapter 9 - Shop Safety | 27 |
| Lifting or Exerting Force | 27 |
| Machine Guarding | 27 |
| Compressed Gas Cylinders | 27 |
| Welding and Burning Operations | 27 |
| Battery Changing or Charging Operations | |
| Safety Signing | |
| Use of Tobacco Products Indoors | |
| Housekeeping | |
| Employee-Owned Equipment or Tools | 29 |
| Chapter 10 - Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) | |
| General Guidelines | |
| Employee Responsibilities | |
| Protective Eye Wear | |
| Respiratory Equipment Selection, Maintenance and Storage | |
| Hearing Protection | |
| Head Protection | |

| Safety Vests | |
|---|----|
| Fall Protection | |
| Footwear | |
| Clothing and Gloves | 34 |
| Inspection, Maintenance and Storage of PPE | 34 |
| Chapter 11 - Hand and Power Tool Safety | 35 |
| General | 35 |
| Use and Care | 35 |
| Chapter 12 - Ladder Safety | |
| Ladder Hazards | |
| Accident Prevention | |
| Ladder Selection | |
| Ladder Maintenance | |
| Chapter 13 - Chemical Safety | |
| Handling, Mixing and Using Chemicals | |
| Hazardous Materials Use, Spills and Exposures | |
| Emergency Care | 40 |
| Chapter 14 - Vehicles and Equipment | 41 |
| Vehicle and Equipment Safety | 41 |
| Driver Training Program | 42 |
| Loss of Driving Privileges | 42 |
| Driving Record Review | 42 |
| Personal Restraint Systems | 43 |
| Commercial Driver's License | 43 |
| Chapter 15 - Additional High-Risk Areas | 44 |
| Railroad Rights-of-Way | 44 |
| Trenches and Excavations | 44 |
| Heights Greater than Six (6) Feet | 44 |
| Confined Spaces | 45 |

CHAPTER 1 - INTRODUCTION, OBJECTIVES AND GOAL

INTRODUCTION

The most important asset Saline County has is its employees. In order to provide maximum protection for employee safety and health, the officials of Saline County have adopted the following safety policy. This policy applies to all officials and employees of the county, and applies to the job being performed by each employee at any given time. For example, if a highway maintenance employee is performing administrative functions such as clerical work, the applicable standards found in this manual for clerical work apply. If an official is performing maintenance work on equipment, those applicable standards apply.

County government is continually faced with escalating costs that can have an indirect and direct effect on its efficient operation. In many cases the cost is determined by uncontrollable circumstances.

However, there are costs the county can effectively control – injuries or illnesses that result in Workers' Compensation claims, and claims that result from unsafe acts of employees. By implementing an effective and efficient safety policy through the County Board, each office and department, and including every employee, work-related injuries, illnesses and unsafe work practices and the associated claims can be reduced. The costs associated with claims have a direct impact and effect on the insurance premiums the county pays.

OBJECTIVES

As stated earlier, the most important asset county government has is you, the employee. One of our main objectives is to reduce and eliminate incidents that result in an injury or illness not only to you, but to any of our employees.

If you as a Saline County employee become aware of a hazard that should be addressed or feel a specific type of safety training should be provided, contact a member of the County Safety Committee.

The majority of incidents (more than 90 percent) have been determined to be preventable incidents can be attributed to one of the following causes:

- Failure to use common sense;
- Ergonomically poor work habits or conditions;
- Failure to be aware of surrounding conditions;
- Failure to report defective equipment and its continued use;
- Failure to use personal protective equipment;
- Improper entry or exit from vehicles or equipment;
- Failure to operate vehicles or equipment defensively;
- Failure to use handrails;
- Improper use of ladders or substituting non-approved objects such as chairs, desks, counter tops;
- Lack of training;
- Failure to follow written policy;
- Lifting or exerting force improperly;

- Improper footwear;
- Poor housekeeping;
- Running up or down stairs or inclines.

The objectives of this manual are to address each of the classifications of incidents and provide preventability measures and techniques that are easily implemented, clearly understood, and cost-effective.

GOAL

The goal of county officials, department heads, supervisory personnel, the County Safety Committee, and every county employee is **zero-incident**. Working toward that goal will take the full support and cooperation of each level of county government. It involves the implementation of a plan of action addressing the major incidents which are costly to both to the injured employee and the county.

Every county employee should understand that insurance premiums are affected by the losses the county incurs and come directly out of the county budget. The money spent on premiums and losses is therefore not available to use for other purposes. In reaching for a **zero-incident** goal the possibility exists that additional funding could be made available for such uses.

This manual address's how you, as an employee, with the assistance and direction of management-officials, department heads and supervisory personnel – can control such incidents and work toward achieving Saline County's <u>zero-incident</u> goal. This manual will provide concise and easy to understand guidance you will require to be informed and comply with the safety standards adopted by Saline County.

CHAPTER 2 - RESPONSIBILITIES

RESPONSIBILITIES – MANAGEMENT

Every county official and department head have the responsibility to provide a safe and healthy work environment for the employees they supervise. Throughout this manual, specific responsibilities are directed toward the department head. However, the responsibility may be delegated to another county employee, but the accountability will rest with department head. The term "management" is defined as meaning an official or department head with responsibility for the office or department and having supervisory authority of employees. Management delegates the responsibility for developing and implementing an effective and efficient safety and health program to the County Safety Committee with assistance from all officials and department heads.

The Safety Committee shall be established in accordance with Neb. Rev. Stat. 48-433 to 48-447, as amended, and the Nebraska Department of Labor Workplace Safety Consultation Program regulations, Title 230, Chapter 7. The Safety Committee serves primarily in an advisory capacity; management retains full authority and accountability for this policy.

RESPONSIBILITIES – EMPLOYEES

It is the responsibility of every county employee to comply with the safety and health guidelines in this manual and written or oral directives that may be provided prior to beginning a job or while on the job.

You are encouraged to actively participate in the county safety and health program by:

- Using common sense on every job;
- Following the safety and health guidelines of his manual;
- Complying with directions of supervisory personnel;
- Attending and actively participating in training sessions;
- Offering safety and health suggestions;
- Reporting "near hits," new hazards and unsafe acts;
- Reporting all personal injuries and damage to equipment, vehicles or county property;
- Reporting unsafe equipment, vehicles or machinery.

The life you save or the injury you prevent may be your own.

COUNTY SAFETY COMMITTEE

The primary responsibilities and functions of the County Safety Committee are as follows:

- Implement the written injury prevention program developed by management, or develop its own written injury prevention program for approval by management;
- Ensure the written program is a clear, concise set of safety and health guidelines that address the known occupational hazards developed from a Job Safety Analysis. This program is to be followed by all county employees;
- Continue expanding this program by developing a workplace injury prevention program and updating the program on a continuing basis;
- Assist in implementing and updating Job Safety Analysis of know hazards;
- Assist in developing the Emergency Plan and conducting annual drills;

- Investigate each incident which has or could have caused an occupational injury, injuries occurring in or on county property, damage to county property, damage to personal property by a county operation, or liability to the county;
- Make written suggestions, based on the findings of the investigation, to the proper county authority to eliminate the recurrence of such an event or a reduction of the exposure;
- Conduct annual safety and health audits of all county facilities and submit written reports of the findings to the responsible official or department head with suggestions for correcting any deficiencies;
- Assist management in setting up and conducting safety and health training programs;
- Use outside safety and health resources whenever possible, whenever needed and available;
- Maintain training records;
- Assist each office or department in developing regular safety meetings in addition to those meetings that may be otherwise required by law (Refer to Training in Chapter 3);
- Designate a subcommittee responsible for reviewing and updating this safety manual;
- Address employee concerns in the area of safety and health, and respond in writing to all concerns submitted;
- Conduct a performance evaluation of the committee annually to evaluate its effectiveness and the efficiency of the program;
- Provide management with written reports on all its activities and with suggestions for improvement in any area found deficient; and,
- Conduct a minimum of four committee meetings annually.

NON-COMPLIANCE

A county employee found in non-compliance with one or more of requirements of this safety manual will be subject to appropriate disciplinary action as follows:

- **First Occurrence** Verbal reprimand, documented with suggestions to prevent reoccurrence.
- Second Occurrence Written reprimand, documented with suggestions for improvement, including how the supervisor may provide assistance to the offending employee. This type of reprimand could impose up to three (3) days off without pay.
- **Third Occurrence** Formal Corrective Action Meeting. A Job Performance report will be made a part of this meeting and corrective action, including time off without pay or termination, will be part of the conclusion of the meeting.

Note: This three-tier approach to disciplinary action should not conflict with any similar disciplinary action addressed in the county's Personnel Manual.

CHAPTER 3 - TRAINING

TRAINING PROGRAM

You will not be expected to perform a job until you are properly trained and qualified by management. In a majority of instances your prior job duties have qualified you or you have been trained on the job or otherwise informed of the duties to be performed. You will not be asked to use any unsafe equipment. Defective equipment, including tools, will be repaired or replaced prior to use.

The training program developed by the County Safety Committee, with assistance from management and employees, while addressing existing safety standards, is aimed in the direction of doing what is right the first time. This could be termed "ethical safety" rather than regulatory safety.

At the center of ethical safety Saline County is attempting to provide a positive view of what is right and what is good. In the development of our training program, it is our intent to make an approach to safety that is worth pursuing in order to reach our goal of <u>zero-incidents</u>.

It is our desire that each employee understands the meaning of ethical safety and the benefit for himself or herself, for his or her co-workers, and for the county as a whole.

The on-going safety training program developed by the County Safety Committee should encourage each employee to become an active participant, not only during training sessions, but also while on the job.

CHAPTER 4 - DRUG AND ALCOHOL USE

PROHIBITED ON THE JOB

Saline County is a Drug Free Workplace and as such, alcoholic beverages and other nonprescription, mind-altering substances are prohibited on county property or while performing county functions. Saline County may require applicants, after being offered employment, to take a drug and/or alcohol test. Employees, at any time, may be subject to reasonable suspicion drug and alcohol testing. Additionally, an employee:

- Will not manufacture, sell, purchase, transfer possession, or use illegal drugs, controlled substances or alcohol, or be under the influence thereof at work or while on County business.
- Will not report to work when under the influence of alcohol or illegal drugs.
- Will inform their department head or supervisor within 48 hours of a conviction for any violation of federal or state criminal drug statute if the violation occurred on county premises.
- Who holds Commercial Driver's License will comply with the drug and alcohol requirements of the Department of Transportation and Nebraska Department of Motor Vehicles regulations.
- Will not, during working hours, consume any mind-altering substance, except as prescribed by a physician, providing it does not inhibit the ability to safely perform the essential functions of his or her job, or the ability of others to perform theirs.

There may be circumstances in which alcohol is served at a County event or business-related gathering. If that is the case, then employees may consume alcohol only to the extent it does not lead to impairment of performance, result in inappropriate behavior, endanger the safety of the employee or any other person or otherwise violate the law. Employees are expected to consume alcohol responsibly. Employees are also expected to conform their behavior to this standard to represent the County in a positive light in their community and have the ability to report to work in a timely manner and perform all job duties safely and effectively.

The use or abuse of alcohol off the job are prohibited from reporting to work with alcohol in their system. The County also prohibits the improper use and/or abuse of therapeutic drugs, as defined below.

THERAPEUTIC MEDICATIONS

- The County does not prohibit the use of a therapeutic drug unless such therapeutic drug affects the employee's capacity to properly perform job duties or creates a danger to him/her or to others in the work place. "Therapeutic drugs" include legally obtained prescription drugs, controlled substances, and over-the-counter drugs used in accordance with the employee's related prescription and/or directions.
- 2. Any employee whose use of any therapeutic drug(s) may affect his/her capacity to properly and safely perform job duties or may create a danger to himself/herself or to others in the work place should report the therapeutic drug use to his/her supervisor. The County/Supervisor will handle the matter as confidentially as practical under the circumstances. An employee may be allowed to continue to work, even though under the

influence of a therapeutic drug, if the County has determined, after consultation, that the employee does not pose a threat to his/her own safety or health, or the safety or health of other employees, and the employee's job performance is not significantly, detrimentally affected by the therapeutic drug. Otherwise, the employee may be required to take a leave of absence in accordance with company policy or comply with other appropriate action determined by the County.

Note: Nothing in this chapter shall conflict with any drug or alcohol use policy found in the county's Personnel Manual. If there is a conflict between the two, the Personnel Manual will govern.

CHAPTER 5 - REPORTS AND INVESTIGATION

INCIDENT STATEMENTS AND REPORTS

Employees involved in, witnesses of, or have knowledge pertaining to incidents involving county personnel or county equipment, shall withhold all statements regarding the incident, unless provided to the following: investigating law enforcement; County Attorney; Department Head/Supervisor; County Management; NIRMA (Nebraska Intergovernmental Risk Management Association).

If an employee is contacted by any other party regarding the incident, including news media, they shall refer them to the County Attorney or other designated spokesperson. It is also advisable for management, prior to making any statement to the news media or others, to consult with the County Attorney.

WORK-RELATED INJURY OR ILLNESS

Every injury or illness occurring on the job to a county employee, regardless of how minor, must be reported to management; their supervisor and/or department head. Upon learning of the work-related injury or illness, employees will be instructed to file a 'First Report of Alleged Occupational Injury or Illness' form provided by the County Clerk. The County is responsible for reporting it to NIRMA.

In addition, an employee involved in a work-related injury or illness will provide a written report outlining the circumstances, cause and effect of the incident, including any supporting statements from others who witnessed such incident.

INJURY, FATALITY OR PROPERTY DAMAGE

Every incident involving a personal injury, fatality, or property damage to a member of the public occurring on county property or roads, and any accident involving a county vehicle or equipment, must be reported to management; their supervisor and/or department head. The County is responsible for reporting it to NIRMA.

All employees involved in the injury, fatality or property damage of others will provide a written report outlining the circumstances, cause and effect of the incident, including any supporting statements from others who witnessed such an event.

"NEAR HIT" OR OTHER HAZARDOUS CONDITIONS OR ACTS

Anyone witnessing a "near hit" incident or having knowledge of a hazardous condition or unsafe act that could result in an injury or property damage should provide management with a written report of the circumstance of the situation. "Near hits," often times referred to as "near misses," are situations where an injury or damage to property did not result from the incident or situation, but was avoided purely by chance or luck. "Near hits" should not be ignored or forgotten. When a hazardous condition is discovered it should be addressed for reduction or elimination through administrative, engineering, written policy, training, oral instruction and/or Personal Protective Equipment methods. When an unsafe act is observed, the employee committing the act must be advised of such either by a co-worker or management. Unsafe acts not only place the employee in harm's way, but also endanger co-workers and citizens.

INVESTIGATION BY MANAGEMENT AND COUNTY SAFETY COMMITTEE

All incidents mentioned above are to be reported by management to the County Safety Committee and are to be investigated by both management and reported to the County Safety Committee. The goal of the investigations is to determine how to prevent a reoccurrence of a similar incident. An incident indicates a failure in the safety system and must be addressed. This failure could be, but is not limited to:

- Failure by an employee or non-employee to exercise common sense or follow safety procedures;
- Lack of or inadequate written procedures;
- Lack of or inadequate oral instruction;
- Lack of or inadequate training;
- Lack of adequate safety equipment;
- Failure to property use safety equipment;
- Safety or other equipment failure.

CHAPTER 6 - EMERGENCY PLAN

EMERGENCY PLANS

Management has the responsibility to develop and implement written emergency plans addressing the major known emergencies that could arise in the workplace. These plans will provide evacuation procedures, response to a medical emergency, the handling of various forms of violence, (i.e., bomb threats, on-site verbal or non-verbal threats, physical attacks by individuals or weapons), hazardous materials spills or exposures, security, and providing for the continuity of business in the event of a disaster. Generally, the following emergencies are addressed:

- Fire Fire Extinguisher Use
- Fire Evacuation Procedure
- Medical Emergency
- Weather
- Violence in the Workplace
- Hazardous Materials Spills or Exposures

FIRE – FIRE EXTINGUISHER USE

In advance, each staff person should:

- 1. Understand the fire and evacuation procedures in your safety handbook.
- 2. Become familiar with the locations of pull stations in their areas.

If a fire occurs in your area:

- 1. Alert coworkers and call 9-1-1.
- 2. Pull alarm, if provided in the workplace, when a fire is discovered.
- 3. Evacuate the area if you are unable to put out the fire with a fire extinguisher. (*See Employee Evacuation Procedure)

FIRE EXTINGUISHER USAGE

In advance, trained staff personnel should:

1. Become familiar with the location of fire extinguishers in their areas.

If a fire extinguisher is used:

- A. Ensure the extinguisher being used is proper for the type of fire encounters. Each extinguisher is labeled indicating the type of fire it is capable of extinguishing.
 - a. Extinguisher Class:
 - i. Class A Ordinary combustibles (paper, cloth, wood)
 - ii. Class B Flammable liquids (gasoline, grease, paints)
 - iii. Class C Energized electrical equipment

Many extinguishers are multipurpose and can be used for more than one type of fire.

- B. Follow the four-step process, known as the "PASS" procedure:
 - a. **P**ull the pin. This unlocks the control lever: tabs may also be used.
 - b. Aim low. Point nozzle or hose at base of fire.
 - c. **S**queeze the lever. Starts discharge.
 - d. **S**weep from side to side. Continue this motion until flames dissipate.
- C. If the fire is not extinguished quickly, cease and evacuate immediately. **NOTE:** Use of portable fire extinguishers should only be considered when:
 - a. Notification measures have been completed.
 - b. Evacuation has been initiated by pulling the alarm.
 - c. The fire is confined to a small area and is not spreading quickly.
 - d. The person using the extinguisher has an unobstructed escape route which will not be blocked if fire grows.
 - e. The person is properly trained in the usage of portable fire extinguishers.

All fires, no matter how small, must be reported to Emergency Management, Building Maintenance and the County Clerk.

FIRE – EVACUATION PROCEDURE

Building evacuation route maps (floor plan layouts) are posted on each floor adjacent to stairways and/or other centrally located sites. The maps contain the location of the evacuation routes from each floor. Employees will familiarize themselves with this information, as well as the location of fire alarm pull stations and extinguishers.

Evacuation routes are designed and maintained to be clear of obstructions and arranged or marked so that the way to a safe place outside the building is unmistakable. Exits will be clearly marked by a readily visible sign; exit doors must never be blocked, locked or fastened during normal business hours.

Each department head will be responsible for the evacuation of their employees and provide evacuation instruction to any courthouse visitors being served at the time of a needed evacuation.

An alarm system will warn of an emergency and is available throughout some county workplaces. Be aware of the expected warnings designed to function in your building. The alarm system may be an alarm bell/buzzer or a combination of alarm bell/buzzer and voice communication. When the alarm or other such command is heard, all employees will immediately prepare to evacuate. Work areas should be secured as practical, equipment turned off and windows and doors closed when exiting rooms. Employees will proceed in an orderly manner with evacuation according to the defined evacuation routes. Stairways will be the escape routes. An elevator will not be used. If the primary evacuation route is blocked, the secondary route will be used.

MEDICAL EMERGENCY

First Aid and Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation (CPR) training will be offered to all employees. This training is at the expense of the county.

If you provide emergency first aid or CPR, or other emergency care at the scene of an accident or other emergency gratuitously, neither you nor the county can be held liable for any civil damages. Neb. Rev. Stat. 25-21, 186, known as the Good Samaritan Law, addresses liability in such cases.

Response to a Medical Emergency:

If you are present or are an early arrival at the scene of a medical emergency, the following is a response guideline:

- 1. Your primary goal is to ensure the victim gets help quickly.
- 2. Remain calm and encourage others to do the same.
- 3. Call 9-1-1 or the local emergency dispatch number at 402.821.2111 for all emergencies.
- 4. If a doctor, nurse or other person trained in first aid is present, offer your assistance.
- 5. Prepare to give victims only the care you have been trained to give.
- 6. Always check the scene for safety and then the victim before beginning to provide care.

Generally, the following steps should be followed when acting in a medical emergency:

- 1. Check the victim for responsiveness.
- 2. For a responsive victim:
 - a. Ask the victim what happened and about their condition.
 - b. Have someone call 9-1-1. If alone, correct any life-threatening conditions you see first (such as severe bleeding) before calling 9-1-1 and continuing to check the victim and providing other care.
- 3. For an unresponsive victim:
 - a. Shout for someone to call 9-1-1 and get an AED. Keep the phone at the victim's side.
 - b. If alone, call 9-1-1 from your mobile device if you have one, and follow the dispatcher's instruction and continue as trained in first-aid.
 - c. If alone without a mobile device, correct any immediate life threats (such as opening the airway or controlling severe bleeding) find a phone and call 9-1-1, and get an AED if available.
 - d. Check for normal breathing. If no breathing, begin CPR and use the AED as soon as available.

NOTE: When you call 9-1-1 for emergency aid or when you send someone to call for aid, remember to provide as accurate a location as possible: where in a building, road or highway number and the approximate distance and direction from a specific location; how many persons are injured; types of injuries; types of dangers, etc.

Always dial "911" in the event of a medical emergency.

FIRST AID KITS

A first aid kit capable of meeting an emergency situation equal to the total number of employees either in each office, on each floor or in/around work vehicles or worksite, and shall be located in a visible and easily accessible location. The location of the first aid kit will be made known to all employees.

WEATHER

Tornado: Being located in Tornado Alley, it is not unusual for our area to experience exposure to such storms. Employee safety is of primary importance, so follow these directions:

Inside Buildings

- When tornado sirens sound or an announcement is issued by another qualified source, take shelter in accordance with that county building's storm sheltering plan.
- Remain in the shelter until you are advised to leave by the official in charge.

In the Field

- Leave your vehicle or equipment immediately.
- Take shelter in a strong and stable structure, if available.
- If no shelter is available find a low depression, such as a ditch, and lie flat, face down with your arms covering your head.
- It is **not** recommended you take shelter under a viaduct or bridge.

Snowstorm Conditions

 If you become stranded during a snowstorm, do not leave your vehicle. Turn your emergency flashers on and, if you have a cell phone or other communications equipment, contact a base station or the emergency center and tell them your (approximate) location. Only run your vehicle motor for five (5) minutes every 15 minutes. Make sure the exhaust system is not blocked by snow. Allow fresh air into your vehicle by slightly opening a window.

BLOODBORNE PATHOGENS

Bloodborne pathogens are microorganisms that are present in human blood and can cause disease to humans. It is best to assume that any body fluids from an injured person contain such microorganisms and that protection, such as latex or hypo-allergic gloves and one-way breathing devices, is used prior to exposure. Any employee exposed to the body fluids of a person should advise their supervisor as soon as possible and seek medical attention.

Any employee who is stuck by a needle or other type of sharp object or whose eyes, nose, mouth or broken skin comes in contact with blood should:

- Immediately flush the exposed area with water and clean any wound with soap and water or a skin disinfectant if available;
- Seek medical attention; and,
- Report the incident to the department head or supervisor immediately.

The following county employees are deemed in high-risk situations for such an exposure and will be provided the opportunity to participate in the Hepatitis B vaccination program prior to an exposure.

- Law enforcement and staff: excluding those not in contact with offenders;
- Correctional personnel and staff: excluding those not in contact with offenders; and,

• Custodians; excluding those not in contact with debris or trash.

If an employee declines to participate in the program, the employee will be requested to sign a Declination of Hepatitis B Vaccination. At a later date, if the employee decides to participate, he or she needs only to advise his or her department head.

All other employees, following a possible exposure, are to inform their department head or supervisor, who will direct them to a medical practitioner for an evaluation and vaccination.

VIOLENCE IN THE WORKPLACE

Violence in the workplace, including sexual harassment, will not be tolerated. Each department head will conduct annual reviews with their employees, addressing how incidents of this nature are to be handled when such conduct occurs, whether by a member of the public, a co-worker, or by individuals doing business with the county. The County Safety Committee will make arrangements for training in this area.

Workplace violence is considered as the threat of violence against a county worker. It can occur at the workplace or off-site and can range from verbal abuse and threats to physical assaults and homicide.

Saline County takes a position of **zero-tolerance** in the area of workplace violence, be it either against or by a county employee. The complete policy can be found in our Personnel Manual.

CHAPTER 7 - GENERAL SAFETY

The majority of workplace injuries can be significantly reduced if common sense is exercised in performing our job duties. If common sense was present in our daily activities, we would not have to be reminded to use Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) when required, to follow proper lifting techniques, or to practice good housekeeping procedures. When we recognize hazards, we would do what we could to reduce the hazard if we were not able to completely eliminate it. We would investigate every incident to determine its root cause and provide the necessary training to eliminate the chance of a reoccurrence of the incident.

This chapter will touch briefly on the wide array of general safety issues that Saline County is faced with and the suggested means of addressing those issues. Later chapters in this manual will address in greater detail many of these issues.

BE OBSERVANT OF SURROUNDING CONDITIONS

Whether in an office environment, in a shop or in the field, employees should take note of and be aware of existing conditions and use proper safety techniques.

- 1. Watch for objects that could cause you to lose your footing.
- 2. Use caution on wet or icy surfaces. Clean up spills.
- 3. If you see some debris or trash, take the time to pick it up and dispose of it.
- 4. Inspect your work area for hazards prior to beginning the job.
- 5. Use handrails when ascending or descending stairways.
- 6. Don't put your hands or feet into an area that you cannot see into.
- 7. Use your lap and shoulder belts when operating a county vehicle.

USE PERSONAL PROTECTIVE EQUIPMENT

The failure of employees to use Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) is a major factor in the frequency and severity of work-related injuries. Employees who could be exposed to a situation which might cause injury will be provided the necessary and appropriate PPE. Chapter 10 addresses the use of PPE in greater detail.

POOR HOUSEKEEPING

Poor housekeeping can result in a slip, trip or fall injury. Each employee is responsible for maintaining a clean work area. Housekeeping is addressed in greater detail in Chapter 8 and Chapter 9.

LIFTING OR EXERTING FORCE

Improper lifting or the exertion of unnecessary force can eventually, if not immediately, lead to injury and employees will be trained in proper lifting techniques.

Saline County has a 50-pound load limit. Moving any load that exceeds 50 pounds requires the use of a second employee or other load lifting device.

Lifting is addressed in greater detail in Chapter 8 and Chapter 9.

USE OF LADDERS VERSUS USE OF NON-APPROVED OBJECTS

The improper use or failure to use an approved ladder or step stool has resulted in serious injuries to employees. Chairs, boxes, counter tops and desk tops are not to be used in place of an appropriate ladder or step stool. Ladder safety is addressed in greater detail in Chapter 12.

REPORT DEFECTIVE EQUIPMENT AND SAFETY HAZARDS

The routine inspection of county property, including but not limited to vehicles, equipment, machinery, and tools and associated power cords, is the responsibility of the user or operator. Defective property poses a hazard to the user and must be reported to management and will be removed from service to be repaired or replaced.

If you as a Saline County employee become aware of a hazard that should be addressed or feel a specific type of safety training should be provided, contact a member of the County Safety Committee.

WORK HABITS

One of the leading causes of musculoskeletal disorders (MSD), such as carpal tunnel syndrome, is poor work habits, such as improper body, arm and hand posture. Another cause of MSDs is cumulative trauma where an employee does the same repetitive motion for an extended period of time. These types of injuries can be reduced with proper training, workstation analysis, and ergonomical study of the environment a person works in. Work-related injuries associated with MSDs will be addressed with the same concern as any other work-related injury.

CHAPTER 8 - OFFICE SAFETY

GENERAL

Hazards in an office environment are different from what may be found on a road building project. However, the hazards in offices can have the same serious consequences: an employee or member of the public suffering a serious injury. When an office hazard exists, it must be eliminated. If it cannot be eliminated then consideration must be given to engineering or administrative controls to reduce the hazard.

County government is subject to various safety and health regulations and standards, including: National Fire Protection Association (NFPA); American National Standards Institute (ANSI); and National Electric Safety Code (NESC) and Uniform Building Code (UBC).

Department heads are responsible for providing a safe and healthy work environment. In order to achieve this, the following will assist in attaining a **zero-incident** goal:

- Conduct routine safety and health audits of the workplace.
- Hold regular safety meetings to discuss safety and health issues.
- Develop and implement written security procedures addressing those issues pertinent to your office, in addition to the Master Emergency Plan.

Also, employees shall comply with the following:

- Walk, do not run.
- When going down, or up, stairways use the handrail.
- Do not carry loads weighing in excess of 50 pounds; get a co-worker to assist or a lifting-transporting device (cart).
- Spills must be cleaned up immediately.
- Desk and file drawers must be closed immediately after use.
- Any injury must be reported immediately to the department head.
- No materials are to be placed or stored in common walkways (aisles).
- Materials stored on top of file cabinets or shelves should be stable and not within 18 inches of a sprinkler head or light fixture.
- Large, heavy, or bulky materials are to be stored on the lower shelves.
- Infrequently used lighter materials are to be stored on the top shelves.
- Materials in file cabinets drawers are to be evenly distributed.
- When placing or retrieving materials at shoulder height or higher, use a ladder or step stool.
- Only approved step stools or Type II (commercial) or Type I (industrial) ladders should be used.
- When approaching blind corners use caution.
- Be attentive to footing, especially in inclement weather. This also applies when you enter a building as floors may be slippery.
- Footwear that gives full side, back and front support provides the best protection against ankle or toe injuries; Neoprene soles offer the best protection against slipping.
- Athletic shoes and open-toed shoes may be permitted, but only in an office environment.

• When mixing chemicals, use a face shield or, at a minimum, safety goggles or glasses with side shields.

ERGONOMICS

"Ergonomic" programs aim to reduce musculoskeletal disorders (MSD), often caused by repetitive motion. This is one of the largest occupational safety and health problems in all employee work environments and classifications.

1. Work Areas

Work areas should be based on body dimensions using the following principles:

- Head height: allow for tallest worker and natural posture.
- Elbow height: adjust normal work surface to just below elbow height.
- Arm reach: allow for shortest co-worker when reaching up or out; allow for tallest worker when reaching down.
- Leg length: allow for long legs; provide chair adjustment or footrests for shorter legs.
- Body bulk: allow for largest sizes; remember to consider varying girth and clothing bulk.

The most favorable working height for handwork, while standing, is 2 to 4 inches below elbow level. On average, working heights of 35 to 39 inches are most convenient, depending on the height of the individual involved. These heights do not apply to computer workstations.

You should also allow for the nature of the work:

- For delicate work it is desirable to support the elbows.
- For standing work, if it involves much effort and makes use of the upper part of the body, such as mailing/file handling, the working surface should be lowered to 6 to 16 inches below elbow height.

Glare from the reflection on your video display terminal (VDT) screen makes it difficult to see the screen clearly. Glare can be caused by sunlight on your screen or by inside light, such as overhead and task lamps. Simple lighting adjustments can help minimize and reduce eyestrain headaches caused by glare.

- Position the screen so it is at a right angle to the window producing the glare.
- Close shades, curtains or blinds, if necessary, as light changes during the day.
- Tilt the VDT screen down slightly to avoid overhead light from producing glare.
- Sit with ceiling lights at sides rather than directly overhead.
- If you use a task lamp, position it to aim the light at your document instead of your screen.
- To help improve your viewing comfort, you may also need to adjust your VDT contrast and brightness modes.
- Periodically clean your screen to maximize clarity. Font characters on the screen should be clear and stable.
- Consider attaching a glare shield to the VDT screen if you are unable to eliminate the glare by other means.

Proper VDT use, including proper posture and workstation adjustment with careful attention to muscle and eye fatigue, should help prevent musculoskeletal and visual problems.

2. Adjusting Your Chair and Workstation

- Adjust lumbar (lower back) support by moving the backrest up or down to match the inward curve of your spine.
- Adjust the tilt of the backrest and/or seat to keep your body supported in an upright position.
- Adjust the seat height for adequate leg clearance under the workstation and keep the keyboard at approximately elbow level.
- Adjust your monitor so the top of the screen is at or just below eye level and has a viewing distance of between 18 and 24 inches.
- Use a document holder that places the documents at the same height as the monitor.

3. Proper Body Posture

- Keep your head in line with your shoulders and hips.
- Keep elbows close to your body.
- Keep wrists in a neutral position; bent no more that 10 degrees up or down.
- A keyboard and padded wrist rest can be used to support the wrists in a neutral position.
- Keep your knees at the same level as your hips or slightly higher.
- Keep feet flat on the floor or supported by a footrest.
- Keep fingers in a relaxed position when working.
- Reassess your workstation periodically.

FILE CABINETS

- Drawers are to be closed except when in immediate use.
- Always load from the bottom up to prevent cabinets from tipping over; never have more than one drawer of the same file cabinet open at a time.
- Avoid overloading top drawers.
- Close drawers gently using the drawer handles to prevent pinching fingers.
- If a drawer is solidly stuck, contact those responsible for equipment maintenance.

MATERIAL AND OFFICE SUPPLY STORAGE

- Material and office supplies must be stored in appropriate areas set aside for this purpose.
- Only items which can be solidly stacked on top of cabinets are permitted.
- Store heavy or breakable items on lower shelves.
- Store frequently used items on the middle shelves and in front.

Do not:

- Overload cabinets or shelves.
- Store materials on top of modular furniture overheads or cabinets.
- Store materials above the level of your shoulder height without using a ladder or step stool.
- Place heavy objects on top of file cabinets greater than (five) 5 feet tall.
- Use storage boxes (cardboard boxes) as room dividers.
- Use walkways, hallways, stairwells, and landings for storage. Walkways and hallways should be maintained free of all obstructions or impediments for use in case of an emergency.

NOTE: If materials (office supplies or records) have to be stored in cardboard boxes, they should be stacked or racked in a manner designed to prevent them from tipping, falling, collapsing, rolling, or spreading.

CUTTING AND ATTACHING EQUIPMENT

- Paper cutters will be equipped with safety bars. The blade spring tension is to be adjusted so the blade will not fall on its own weight. The blade will be stored in the down and locked in a closed position when not in use.
- Do not attempt to forcibly discharge jammed staplers with the paper rest open.
- Razor blades, E-XACTO blades and other pointed objects are to be boxed and stored separately. Never reach blindly for such items.

OFFICE FURNITURE AND EQUIPMENT

- All legs of a chair are to rest on the floor. Do not tilt back to the extent that a chair leg comes off the floor.
- Check chairs monthly for loose screws, defective welds and broken springs.
- A chair should comfortably support your lower back, should not brush against your inner calves, and should allow your feet to rest on the floor. If your chair is not adjustable a pillow behind your back and/or a riser under your feet can help provide additional support **Caution:** this could also become a tripping hazard.
- Do not stand on chairs, desks, counter tops, cartons, trash receptacles or bookcases.
- Stepladders, properly extended, or approved lockable stands will be used for extending one's reach.
- Desk drawers must not be left in an open position.
- Glass desktops or counter tops are to be free from cracks, sharp edges or corners, and chips or broken edges.
- Defective, broken, splintered or cracked surfaces of any office furniture should be reported to building maintenance personnel or other proper authority for immediate repair.
- If it becomes necessary for an employee to move office furniture or equipment, when the weight or size of the items exceeds your physical capabilities, additional personnel are to be used.

Securing Furniture and Equipment

In order to be prepared for emergencies, certain office furniture and equipment should be secured to walls or floors.

- File cabinets/storage cabinets five (5) feet high and taller are to be placed against permanent walls and secured to the wall. File cabinets/storage cabinets, shorter than five (5) need not be secured to walls or floors.
- If wall space is not available, file/storage cabinets over five (5) feet high but less than six (6) feet may be placed in open areas, placed back-to-back and secured to each other, or the floor.
- File cabinets/storage cabinets six (6) feet or taller are to be placed against permanent walls and secured to the wall.
- If wall space is not available, file/storage cabinets six (6) feet or taller may be placed in open areas, provided they are placed back-to-back and secured to each other and the floor.

ELECTRICAL EQUIPMENT AND CORDS

Office work areas are subject to the National Electric Safety Codes (NESC) in the State of Nebraska. The following represents some of the pertinent electrical safety standards:

- Electrical power cords for computers, printers, or other devices will not be placed on the floor unprotected or where they may create a tripping hazard. Such cords, if placed in areas where you walk, will be covered with a protective strip to prevent tripping.
- Only UL approved electrical cords will be used.
- Only qualified employees will repair defective electrical cords.
- All equipment should be grounded; ground adapters are not permitted.
- Electrical extension cords are permitted. However, they are not to be used as long-term substitute for fixed wiring.
- New electrical outlets should be installed to eliminate the need to have an excess of appliances on a single circuit.
- Portable heaters are discouraged. If used, these heaters are to be equipped with an automatic shutoff and comply with other county policies.

Machine and General Office

- Office machines will be turned off and unplugged prior to being serviced or when adjustments are made to a mechanical or electrical enclosed portion. Only qualified personnel will service or make adjustments to office machines.
- Report to your supervisor electrical hazards, such as frayed or bare wires, overloaded outlets, or improperly grounded wires. Provide a report to those responsible for repair of this type of equipment.
- Wear gloves when using toner or other chemicals used in office machines.
- Turn equipment off prior to adding any flammable liquids.
- Document cover on photocopiers should be down during copying to avoid blinding.
- Rings, bracelets, neckties, long strands of hair, and other loose personal items could be hazardous around exposed moving parts of office equipment.

SPACE REQUIREMENTS

The minimum space requirements for aisles and hallways are based on the Nebraska State Fire Marshal, the Life Safety Code of the NFPA, and the construction standards contained in the UBC.

It is required there be unobstructed walking space between and around desks, chairs, bookcases, file cabinets, credenzas, other general office furniture or equipment, and wall partitions. The wall partitions may be portable or permanent.

HOUSEKEEPING

All workplaces are to be kept in a clean and orderly manner. If any type of debris, pencil stubs, scraps or paper, etc., are seen, remove it. If because of the nature of the debris you are unable to remove it, contact the appropriate personnel to perform the clean-up duties. Do not allow personal items to become tripping hazards.

1. Hallways/Walkways/Common Work Areas

Both the NFPA and UBC have established a 44-inch minimum width for routes of travel by persons with disabilities. The 44-inch standard applies to all types of hallways and walkways, e.g., used as exits to work areas or offices. Designated hallways and walkways may be wider that 44 inches but should have at least 44 inches of unobstructed walking space.

2. Stairways

These areas are to be clear of tripping hazards and in good repair. Storage, even on a temporary basis, is not permitted. All stair tread surfaces should be slip-resistant. Stairways are to have handrails on at least one side.

3. Exit or Directional Signs

Illuminated signing is to be provided at every exit door, at the intersection of corridors, at exit stairways or ramps, and at other locations as necessary to inform occupants of the means of exit. Exit signs will be maintained in a good working condition.

4. Emergency Lighting

- All windowless exit routes below ground level will have emergency lighting;
- In buildings where the occupancy is 100 or more, above or below the level of exiting.
- In buildings two (2) or more stories in height, above the level of exiting.

5. Door Openings

Doorways are to kept clear. Doors marked "Fire Door, Do Not Block," or other special notices are not to be changed or altered. Solid doors (without windows or where sight distance is limited) can present hazards because they can be approached from both sides at the same time. A warning is needed to address this hazard.

FIRST AID KITS

A first aid kit capable of meeting an emergency situation equal to the total number of employees either in each office or on each floor shall be located in a visible and easily accessible location. The location of the first aid kit will be made known to all employees.

CHAPTER 9 - SHOP SAFETY

LIFTING OR EXERTING FORCE

Improper lifting or the exertion of unnecessary force can eventually, if not immediately, lead to injury. Employees will be trained in proper lifting techniques.

- 1. Saline County has a 50-pound load limit.
 - a. Moving any load that exceeds 50 pounds requires the use of a second employee or other load lifting device.
- 2. Bulky or other large items that hinder your view will be handled by two or more employees or another load-lifting device.
- 3. Equipment, tools or materials being taken out of a pickup truck will be taken from the end-gate area after it has been lowered, not from the side.
- 4. Fifty-five-gallon drums or gas cylinders are to be handled with a drum cart or other approved material handling device when possible.
- 5. Support belts may be used at the employee's discretion.

MACHINE GUARDING

- When seven (7) feet or closer to the floor, or on work platforms, all rotating gears, pulleys, fans and belts will be protected by a guard.
- Table saws will have the safety guard in place at all times.
- Grinders will have the tool rest set not greater than 1/8-inch from the wheel; the upper breakaway guard will be set not greater than ¼-inch from the wheel.

COMPRESSED GAS CYLINDERS

- Valves will be shut off when not in use.
- When stored, cylinders will be capped, secured or restrained.
- Gases of different types will be stored with 20-foot separation or by 2-hour firewall. Do not store cylinders exposed to direct sunlight. Empty cylinders or the area in which they are stored will identify that they are empty.
- Cylinders will not be stored in close proximity to welding areas or live electrical circuits, or where they could be contaminated by oil or grease.

WELDING AND BURNING OPERATIONS

- Welding curtains should be used to protect others from harmful rays.
- All face shields, goggles, or other eye protection equipment used in welding and burning operations will be marked with the shade of the protective lens or shield. The shade used by the employee should be the minimum set by the American Welding Society.
- For welding or burning operations, respirator protection should be used when the material safety data sheet (SDS) requires this personal protective equipment (PPE).
- For welding or burning operations the employee will, at a minimum, use the PPE, including safety toed footwear or metatarsal protection as required by the American Welding Society.
- Arc welding units will be turned off when not in use.

• Following a welding or burning operation and every 15 minutes for one hour following such operation, a fire check will be conducted to ensure there is no smoldering fire potential.

BATTERY CHANGING OR CHARGING OPERATIONS

- Eye or face protection will be used.
- Follow the battery manufacturers suggested method for connecting and charging.

SAFETY SIGNING

In shops and other work areas where operations cause fumes, debris, dust, waste or together particles which could cause a personal injury, safety signs will be posted advising of the danger and, if applicable, PPE will be used.

USE OF TOBACCO PRODUCTS INDOORS

Use of tobacco products indoors or in county equipment is prohibited.

Smoking of tobacco products is prohibited in any work area where combustible fumes could result in a fire or explosion due to ignition.

HOUSEKEEPING

- All service and parts rooms, shop areas, offices, passageways, restrooms, aisles and floors will be maintained in a clean, orderly and sanitary condition.
- Combustible trash containers (used for wipes) will have a self-closing lid. Flammable trash containers (used for common debris) will have a lid.
- In larger shops, common walkways will be marked with yellow paint.
- Parts, extension cords, acetylene/oxygen hoses, cables, tools, and other such items are not to be left haphazardly on the floor where they could become a tripping hazard.
- Spilled fluids will be immediately cleaned up.
- In inclement weather and in shops in which trucks, plows and other such equipment are stored, serviced and repaired, damp and wet floors could cause an electrical hazard. All interior and exterior electrical receptacles are to be Ground Fault Circuit Interrupter (GFCI) protected.
- Electrical cords and plugs with exposed wires will be removed from service and repaired or replaced.
- Any equipment or tool which has had the ground prong removed from the plug will be removed from service and repaired or replaced.
- A first aid kit capable of meeting an emergency situation equal to the number of employees in the shop shall be located in a visible and easily accessible location. The location of the kit will be made known to all employees.
- Materials, such as lumber, pipe and blades, will be stored flat on the floor or ground and <u>not</u> leaned lengthwise against a wall or structure.
- All materials will be stored in a neat, orderly and stable manner.
- Pits, when not in use, will be guarded by a covering, chains, or other similar barriers.
- Open stairways will have a handrail on each open side.
- Load limits will be posted on elevated levels used for storage or other functions.
- Upper elevations will have a toe board above common walkways, and a top and middle rail. The railing must be able to withstand 200 pounds of force.

- Stairways are not to be used for storage.
- Broken or cracked windows will be repaired.
- Portable fire extinguishers are to be within 70 feet of travel, along a common walkway, and properly signed for quick locating.
- Drench stations (full body) and eye-wash stations (capable of 15 minutes discharge) will be within 15 seconds travel.

EMPLOYEE-OWNED EQUIPMENT OR TOOLS

Use of employee-owned equipment or tools in the performance of work for the county must receive department head or supervisory approval in advance. Employee-owned equipment or tools are to be maintained in a safe working condition and removed from the county premises if determined to be unsafe.

CHAPTER 10 - PERSONAL PROTECTIVE EQUIPMENT (PPE)

GENERAL GUIDELINES

This chapter provides information about specific items and categories of personal protective equipment (PPE) used to protect and shield employees from injury or illness. When applicable, employees will be provided with PPE to use whenever there is a possibility of exposure or injury.

The county will provide the following equipment:

- Disposable ear plugs;
- Special use work gloves (i.e., chemical, welding) depending on the type of work;
- Regular, cotton work gloves are the employee's personal responsibility;
- Traffic control safety vests;
- Safety or Plano glasses with side shields;
- Clear face shields or of the proper tint required for specific operations;
- Goggles for persons with prescription glasses.

The county will furnish additional items of personal protective equipment as necessary. Any questions should be directed to your supervisor.

EMPLOYEE RESPONSIBILITIES

When the job requires PPE because of a specific exposure, employees will wear the required PPE. Specific jobs that may require the use of PPE include, but are not limited to:

- Bridge maintenance or construction;
- When working or assisting outside contractors who require their employees to wear safety-toed shoes; **exempt:** inspectors or observers;
- When you are involved in a work activity where the exposure will be reduced by the use of PPE;
- In any area where welding, grinding, drilling or other such work is done, eye protection is required at all times. Additional PPE may be required depending on the actual work activity of the employee.

Properly maintain your safety equipment.

• Report, as soon as possible, all defective PPE to your department head or immediate supervisor.

Only PPE conforming to recognized standards (American National Standards Institute, National Institute of Occupational Safety and Health, Mine Safety and Health Administration) will be selected and used. Do not substitute other PPE or supply your own.

PPE is a temporary and last resort measure. If possible, correct hazards through design, engineering or process changes, administrative or other means.

When you are issued equipment for the first time or when new devices are introduced, your department head will provide training on how and why the equipment is to be used; periodic refresher training will also be provided.

PROTECTIVE EYE WEAR

Employees are responsible for wearing eye protection during any work activity that may expose them to an eye injury. Eye protection includes safety glasses with side shields, goggles, and face shields. Face shields may be used in conjunction with safety glasses or goggles.

Employees will be provided with appropriate eye protection for the job they are performing. Safety Plano eye protection will be available for the use of authorized visitors.

When to wear protective eye wear:

- Near flying particles, chips or dust, splashing liquids (including bodily fluids), bright flashes, glare, and heat.
- While driving any motorized equipment that is not equipped with an enclosure or cab.

Eye protection should conform to ANSI87.1-1986 (R-1998) or most recent edition.

Where protective eye wear is required it should be posted:

Eye Protection Required Before Entering This Area

Green tinted face shields should not be used for welding and cutting operations unless they have a tint of five or six and are approved for welding and cutting operations. Face shields, or at a minimum safety eye wear, will be used when an employee is working with chemicals or performing battery-changing operations.

RESPIRATORY EQUIPMENT SELECTION, MAINTENANCE AND STORAGE

Respirator: A device (supplied air or filter type) worn by persons for protection against breathing harmful vapors, gases, dust, fumes or mist. Respirators are provided for you to use when personal protection is required to prevent exposure to respiratory hazards. All respiratory protective equipment used shall meet the ANSI and Occupational Safety and Health Administration standards.

The supervising county official or department head will:

- Provide, with assistance from the County Safety Committee, training in respirator care and use.
- Approve the types of respirators to be used.
- Provide respirators and accompanying sanitary storage facilities.

There are different types of respirators. Some of these include dust masks and air-purifying negative-pressure respirators. To determine the need for respiratory protection where a hazard may exist, the following factors are considered:

- Toxic or irritating characteristics of a contaminant.
- Physical state of contaminant (dust, mist, vapor or gas).
- Concentration of contaminant (determines if protection is needed or whether a filter or supplied air is required).
- Skin absorption of a contaminant (gloves and protective garb properly selected may provide adequate protection).

- Anticipated exposure time (exposure concentration and time determine respirator type and service life).
- Possible skin and eye irritation.
- Work location escape distance to safe atmosphere.
- Possibility of oxygen deficient atmosphere (supplied air required).
- Identity of contaminants (more than one may be present requiring special filters).

HEARING PROTECTION

Noise level studies will be performed and steps taken to reduce the hazard. Hearing protection will be provided and will be used when required to protect you from noise and when engineering controls cannot reduce the noise to acceptable levels. Protection against the effects of noise exposure shall be immediately available in those instances where the sound level exceeds 85 decibels (dBA).

The **noise level** is an exposure to an 8-hour "Time Weighted Average" (TWA) of 85 dBA. Where controls are not feasible and the noise level exceeds 85 decibels (dBA), wear an approved form of hearing protection. Activities that require hearing protection include operating air tools, power chiseling and hammering.

When your work areas or specific job tasks have been designated as those requiring hearing protection, you must wear approved protective equipment. Personal audio headphones are not considered approved hearing protection. Your supervisor is responsible for identifying hearing protection needs, as well as providing training on the proper use of hearing protection equipment.

Disposable earplugs are the most common type of hearing protection and should be readily available. Hearing protection will be available for the use of authorized visitors. Hearing protective earmuffs are available for special situations and can be worn with plugs. Certain work areas or tasks may be designated as requiring additional protective measures. If you have questions about high noise levels in your work area, contact your supervisor.

Where hearing protection is required it should be posted: "Hearing Protection Required Before Entering This Area"

HEAD PROTECTION

It is your responsibility to wear the county-provided orange or yellow/green hard hat while working on or off the highway rights-of-way or in other situations when there is danger of head injury. You are responsible for wearing a hard hat during any work activity that may expose you to a head injury when working in tight places with limited head room or when working overhead, such as bridge repair or construction, cutting or trimming trees, installing or repairing traffic signal devices, and storm damage cleanup. Hard hats should be immediately available for use as work conditions change so protection is available. Additionally, extra hard hats will be available for the use of authorized visitors.

Where hard hat protection is required, it should be posted: "Hard Hat Protection Required Before Entering This Area"

While working on the railroad rights-of-way, employees should wear orange or yellow/green hard hats or similar colored caps/hats

Head protection provided by the county will conform to ANSI Z89.1-1989 or most recent edition.

Specific activities exempt from hard hat requirements include: (1) in an office setting; (2) mechanics working inside or under a vehicle, or under equipment canopies; and (3) when you or your passengers are inside a vehicle cab.

When a hard hat is <u>not</u> required, a baseball-style cap or full brim hat (personal purchase) may be worn.

SAFETY VESTS

Safety vests or safety shirts are to be worn in field work areas when employees are exposed to traffic and on construction projects that remain open to the traveling public.

A vest equipped with reflective material is the standard for county operations. The retroreflective vest is designed to identify the wearer as a person and to provide visibility through the full range of body motions. Orange or yellow/green safety vests or safety shirts will be worn while working in any situation where high visibility is necessary.

In wet weather, you may wear fluorescent rain gear when such is provided by the county.

FALL PROTECTION

Safety harnesses, lifelines and lanyards are required when working at height of six (6) feet or more where you are not protected by standard guardrails or safety nets, or as required when working in confined spaces.

- You must wear an approved safety harness as the job requires.
- Safety belts are not to be used.
- You will be trained in donning, doffing and using safety harnesses.
- Harnesses are to be used with approved lanyard, which will be anchored on an approved anchor point.
- Equipment will be inspected prior to each use.
- If used in a fall, the equipment cannot be used again until inspected and approved for use.

ANSI Z359.1, as updated in 2004, covers fall protection issues from training and fall arrest systems to rescue operations. Additional information on anchorage points, horizontal lifelines and rope access are also addressed in this standard.

FOOTWEAR

Steel toed or Composite shoes/boots are required for employees whose work conditions expose them to a potential foot injury due to falling or rolling objects, exposure to the piercing of a sole, or electrical or chemical hazards. Such protection is required for, but not limited to, the following jobs:

• Road, yard, and building maintenance (temporary, part-time flaggers are exempt).

- Bridge, culvert or building construction or remodeling.
- Construction inspection.
- Restocking or warehouse operations.
- Sign-making operations.
- Equipment repair and service.
- Carpentry.

If you are not directly involved in the physical work of the job, you are exempt from wearing leather boot footwear.

CLOTHING AND GLOVES

When using hazardous chemicals, specialized gloves offering protection against specific chemicals, a laboratory coat and, at times a splash apron, may be required PPE; see the specific material data safety sheet (SDS) for the chemical being handled.

Insulated gloves and arm sleeve covers are recommended when handling hot or cold materials. To reduce cut or abrasion injuries, use puncture or abrasion resistant gloves, arm sleeve covers, and at times an apron.

Bridge Crew Employees are required to wear long pants during working hours.

Special occupational exposures, such as welding, require special gloves. The department head will provide the specific type of special occupational gloves needed for the safety of the employee.

The following are general guidelines in using gloves:

- Metal mesh or cut resistant gloves should prevent cuts from broken glassware, knives or other sharp objects.
- Leather gloves should prevent blisters, calluses, and abrasions. These gloves also protect against rough surfaces, sparks, and moderate heat.
- Cotton or other fabric gloves should protect against dirt and dust, or to better grasp slippery objects.
- Rubber, neoprene, vinyl, or nitrile gloves should protect against chemicals.
- Workers who are sensitive to natural rubber latex should avoid direct contact with latex gloves and other rubber products.
- Gloves should fit properly and be in good condition.
- Avoid contamination. Don't allow your bare skin to touch contaminated gloves.
- Purchase, use and care of general use work gloves are the responsibility of the employee.

INSPECTION, MAINTENANCE AND STORAGE OF PPE

- Clean and disinfect as needed.
- Inspect before and after each use.
- Immediately repair or replace any PPE that fails inspection. Do not attempt to do more than recommended by the manufacturer.
- Store PPE as instructed and according to manufacturer's guidelines.

CHAPTER 11 - HAND AND POWER TOOL SAFETY

GENERAL

Hand and power tools, even those which are relatively simple to operate, can and do pose a hazard and have the potential to cause serious injuries when improperly used or maintained. Special attention must always be given when using any hand or power tool in the course of your work.

USE AND CARE

Employee <u>will:</u>

- Use only tools that are in good operating condition.
- Be sure the tool has come to a complete stop before laying it down.
- Set tool rest 1/8-inch from the grinder wheel.
- Protect eyes, face, head, toes and scalp with the proper PPE for the exposure present.
- Wear industrial-quality safety glasses or a safety shield. Safety glasses are to have the ANSI z87.1 logo on them to ensure they are industrial quality.
- Place long hair in a cap or secure with a band to keep it from getting caught in tools.
- Use a respirator when required by the material safety data sheet (SDS) or other indicators. When working in dusty conditions, use a filter-type respirator.
- Avoid outside distractions when operating any tool.
- Keep the work area clean. Keep the floor free of scraps and oil.
- Work only at the operating speed of the tool.
- Use both hands to hold and guide material being sawed.
- Clamp or otherwise secure materials being drilled.
- Stand in a safe location. Position yourself to avoid being hit if the tool kicks back. Do not stand directly behind the equipment; stand slightly to the right or left.
- Remove nails, staples, and loose knots before sawing, drilling, etc.
- Protect the electrical cord. Keep the power cord out of the line of the cut.
- Clean power tools before putting them away.
- Keep guards in place. Safety guards cannot protect you if they are not in place and in proper working order.
- Know the machine. Read the operator's manual and learn the applications, limitations, and potential of each power tool before you begin to use it.
- Know the shutoff switch location(s). Remember where the switch is located so you can turn off the machine quickly.
- Use safe blades. Never use cracked or kinked saw blades. Keep saw blades sharp and properly set.
- Be provided proper ventilation.

Employees will not:

- By-pass or remove guards.
- Wear clothing contaminated with flammable or combustible materials.
- Use a power tool before it has reached operating speed or while it is coming to a stop.

- Force an object into moving parts to stop a machine.
- Use power cords to raise or lower a power tool from one elevation to another.
- Leave a machine running unattended. Make sure all moving parts have come to a complete stop before you leave the work area or before you make minor adjustments.

CHAPTER 12 - LADDER SAFETY

Portable ladders are one of the handiest, simplest tools we use. Because of their effectiveness, ladders are used by many different employees to perform many different tasks. Although ladders are not complicated, planning and care are still required for safe use.

LADDER HAZARDS

Ladder accidents usually are caused by improper selection, care or use, not by manufacturing defects. Some of the more common hazards involving ladders are instability, electrical shock, and falls, which can be predicted and prevented.

ACCIDENT PREVENTION

- Do not hand-carry heavy loads on a ladder.
- Keep your belt buckle or bellybutton inside the rails. Do not over reach; move the ladder.
- Do not stand on the ladder's top three rungs.
- A damaged side rail may cause one side of a ladder to give way.
- The base should be spaced one (1) foot away for every four (4) feet the ladder reaches in height.
- Ladders used to reach a walking surface or roof are to extend at least three (3) feet beyond the walking surface or roof.
- Extension ladders need both locks holding to prevent overloading a rail.
- Stepladders are to be spread in the open position and securely locked.
- Never use a folding stepladder in an unfolded position.
- Electrical shock can occur with metal or wet wood ladders.
- When ladders are used in the area of a door swing, the door will be closed and locked.

LADDER SELECTION

Portable ladders are designed as "one-worker" equipment with the proper strength to support the worker, as well as his tools and materials. Ladders are constructed under three general classes:

- Type I (industrial) Heavy –duty with a load capacity not more than 250 pounds. For highway, custodian and other heavy-duty work.
- Type II (commercial) Medium-duty with a load capacity not more than 225 pounds. For custodial light duty work (suited for painting and similar tasks, not electrical work). This type is to be used in administrative offices for reaching materials at higher levels. Safety stools may also be used.
- Type III (household) Light-duty with a load capacity not more than 200 pounds, which <u>are not</u> permitted in county government operations.

LADDER MAINTENANCE

- Wood ladders can be protected with a clear sealer varnish, shellac, linseed oil or wood preservative.
- Wood ladders are not to be painted as the paint can hide defects or cover use directions or warning labels.

- Before using a wood ladder check carefully for cracks, rot, splinters, broken rungs, loose joints and bolts, and hardware that may be in poor condition.
- Aluminum or steel ladders should be inspected for rough burrs and sharp edges before use.
- Make sure the hooks and locks on extension ladders are in good condition. Replace worn or frayed ropes on extension ladders at once.
- Fiberglass ladders may have a surface coat of lacquer. If it is scratched beyond normal wear it should be lightly sanded before applying a coat of lacquer.

CHAPTER 13 - CHEMICAL SAFETY

HANDLING, MIXING AND USING CHEMICALS

All employees that may handle or are exposed to a hazardous material while on the job will be trained in:

- The Right to Know Act prior to their first exposure;
- Understanding a Material Safety Data Sheet (SDS); and
- The use of Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) that may be required.

The department head will arrange for this training with the assistance of the County Safety Committee. Additionally, the department head will have SDS available for the review of employees who are in contact with all materials that contain warning labels with any or all of the following words: **Caution; Warning; Danger.**

HAZARDOUS MATERIALS USE, SPILLS AND EXPOSURES

All hazardous chemical containers are to be labeled or marked appropriately. Chemicals transferred from labeled containers, and which are intended for immediate use, are also to be labeled.

Each department head will make a list of hazardous chemicals in the work area that includes:

- The chemical name; i.e., gasoline
- Where a hazardous chemical product is used; i.e., Road Department.
- Where the SDSs are located; i.e., Highway Superintendent's office shelf above computer-marked SDS.

The department head will maintain the SDS for all hazardous chemicals used in the workplace, regardless of where purchased. Additionally:

- Copies of the SDS will be located at the main workplace (office or shop) and will be accessible to all affected employees.
- No hazardous material container will be accepted without a SDS and an identifying label.
- No container is to be accepted if it is damaged.
- Container being delivered that are not properly labeled or that are damaged will be refused and returned to the supplier.

All county materials classified as hazardous or the waste of such materials will be discarded in accordance with federal, state and local laws or regulations.

The county has a specific policy addressing handling of any hazardous material or waste spill caused by an on-site county-related incident. Your department head or supervisor will provide you with specific information as needed.

The county and its employees are not to become involved in a hazardous material incident not related to county government without official direction by law enforcement, Fire Department

and/or the Emergency Manager who may become involved due to their responsibilities to public safety.

EMERGENCY CARE

Workplaces where hazardous chemicals are used will have a drench station (full body) and eyewash station (capable of 15 minutes continuous flushing) within 15 seconds of travel. Portable emergency eye-wash products are permissible, but only for the travel time to a eye-wash station as described above and within 15 seconds.

CHAPTER 14 - VEHICLES AND EQUIPMENT

In this chapter the term "vehicle" refers to any motorized vehicle licensed for use on a public road. The term "equipment" refers to mobile machinery and other equipment used in county operations.

VEHICLE AND EQUIPMENT SAFETY

The county has a Vehicle and Equipment Maintenance Program to ensure that vehicles and equipment meet the minimum requirements of state and federal law.

County employees required to operate vehicles or equipment in the course of employment **will:**

- 1. Possess and have on their person a valid operator's license for the specific class of vehicle being driven.
- 2. Operate vehicles and equipment in compliance with local traffic laws and the Nebraska Rules of the Road.
- 3. Check in both directions for oncoming trains when approaching a railroad crossing.
- 4. Always know what conditions exist behind the vehicle or equipment before backing up.
- 5. Try to generally park the vehicle or equipment in a manner where it should not be necessary to back up during the next start-up.
- 6. Park a vehicle or equipment in a manner to prevent roll-away accidents.
- 7. Use warning or precautionary lights when working or stopping on or adjacent to the roadway.
- 8. Use the three-point grasp when getting in or out of equipment. Do not jump down.
- 9. See that the vehicle or equipment being used is equipped with a working fire extinguisher, and a first aid kit.
- 10. See that the vehicle has an insurance card.
- 11. Report to their department head what medication they have been prescribed which contains warnings regarding drowsiness or other such conditions. If your physical alertness endangers yourself and others, do not operate a vehicle or equipment.
- 12. Maintain the vehicles and equipment in a clean condition.

County employees required to operate vehicles or equipment in the course of employment **will not**:

- 1. Back up on the reverse slope of a hill unless:
 - a. A flagger is available to give guidance to both the operator and to on-coming traffic; or,
 - b. The road is closed to traffic; or,
 - c. Sight-distance is adequate and it is safe to back up for a short distance.
- 2. Park or stop the vehicle in a manner which would block traffic signs, signals or other traffic.
- 3. Stand next to the vehicle when parked in a maintenance or construction area, unless it is properly barricaded and signed.

- 4. Park or stop vehicles or equipment in the driving lane in which traffic is traveling, except in the performance of road maintenance duties and after other motorists are provided adequate warning.
- 5. Have two county vehicles stopped adjacent to each other blocking a road, except in the performance of their duty.
- 6. Sit on the deck or tailgate of a moving truck, ride in the bucket of a front-end loader, or on the forks of a fork-lift.

DRIVER TRAINING PROGRAM

All county employees required to operate a county vehicle or equipment will:

- Complete a driver's training course within the first six months of being hired, unless the employee can provide documentation that he or she has attended a driver training course within the previous 12-month period.
- Attend a refresher course at least once every three (3) years; and
- Be required to attend a refresher driving improvement course because of observed or otherwise noted driving deficiencies regarding compliance with the Nebraska Rules of the Road.

The department head or supervising county official will, with the assistance of the County Safety Committee, arrange for all driving courses.

LOSS OF DRIVING PRIVILEGES

If a county employee:

- Has his or her driving privileges revoked, suspended or otherwise removed, either by a court order or Nebraska Department of Motor Vehicles administrative order, the employee will provide a copy of the order to his or her department head or supervising county official within one working day of receipt.
- Possesses a CDL and is charged or pays a fine by waiver for a traffic (moving violations only) regardless of the vehicle he or she is driving at the time, the employee will notify his or her department head or supervising county official, in writing, within one working day of receiving the violation or paying a fine.
- Loses his or her driving privileges it may call for disciplinary action as described in the County Personnel Manual.

Additionally, while the driving suspension is in force the employee will not operate any county vehicle and, if feasible, will not operate any county equipment on a public roadway.

DRIVING RECORD REVIEW

- 1. Job applicants will furnish a current abstract of their driving record at the time of applying for a county position or within a reasonable time thereafter.
- 2. Non-Nebraska residents applying for a county position that requires operating a motor vehicle and whose driving record is not immediately available, may be conditionally hired if approved by the department head or supervising county official. The driving record is to be provided within 30 days of hire.
- 3. Once every three years the department heads will review the driving records of all employees who may be required to operate a vehicle in the course of employment.

PERSONAL RESTRAINT SYSTEMS

It is Nebraska law and the policy of Saline County that you and all passengers in your vehicle use seat belts and shoulder restraints at all times. If the seat belt system does not fit you, advise your department head or official and the system will be retrofitted to your size. If because of a medical condition, using the seat belt system is not recommended by your physician, a letter from the physician explaining the situation will be evaluated by management and a decision will be made on each individual care.

Exemptions from seat belt system usage include:

- Operating a motor grader, which requires the employee to stand to operate the blade.
- When you and your passengers are engaged in stop-and-go work of 200 feet or less. If the distance is greater than 200 feet, restraints must be worn.
- Operating a motor grader, tractor, front-end loader, etc., that does not have a rollover protection structure (ROP

COMMERCIAL DRIVER'S LICENSE

Requirements

The duties of some county employees may include the responsibility of operating a vehicle classified as a commercial motor vehicle (CMV). Employees required to operate CMVs are required to possess a valid operator's license of the specific class required for the vehicle.

The county requires that the following classification of employees have a Commercial Driver's License (CDL): All bridge and road department employees.

- Employees in the above classifications that do not have a CDL when hired will be required to obtain a valid CDL within six (6) months
- An employee with a CDL Learner's Permit may drive a commercial vehicle provided a coworker with a current CDL accompanies the employee.
- If you do not reside in Nebraska, you should obtain the necessary license from the state in which you reside.
- You may use a county vehicle to get your CDL if you are required to take the driver's skill test.

CDL operators are:

- Subject to pre-employment Department of Transportation (D.O.T.) drug testing in addition to non-D.O.T. testing.
- Subject to D.O.T. drug and alcohol testing randomly, post-accident, and for reasonable suspicion.
- To be provided a copy of the CDL guidelines of the D.O.T. governing the federal and state requirements.

CHAPTER 15 - ADDITIONAL HIGH-RISK AREAS

RAILROAD RIGHTS-OF-WAY

There is an inherent danger when working on open roadways. This danger increases significantly when county employees work near, at, or on railroad rights-of-way.

- The department head is responsible for training employees who may be working within 25 feet of any railroad track. Employees will attend a railroad orientation class. Recertification will be provided on an annual basis.
- Prior to working on railroad property, the department head will notify the railroad 24 hours in advance.
- When working alone, be alert to rail traffic.
- When working with a crew of two or more, one employee is to act as a lookout and watch for approaching trains. This may be a railroad person or a county co-worker.
- All members working on the crew should be in contact with the lookout.
- When working on railroad property, employees will wear an orange or yellow/green vest with reflective material, a similar colored cap or hard hat, and gloves, safety boots, and safety glasses.
- If you foul the track notify your department head, who is responsible for notifying the railroad. Fouling the track means "the placement of an individual or an item of equipment in such proximity to a track that the individual or equipment could be struck by a moving train or on-track equipment, or in any case is with four feet of the field side of the near running rail."
- Radios are only allowed to be used for communication purposes. No personal radios or music players are permitted when working on railroad rights-of-way.
- No weapons are permitted on railroad property.

TRENCHES AND EXCAVATIONS

Employees working in trenches or excavations greater than four (4) feet in depth will:

- Have a qualified person inspect the trench prior to each day's work and following any rain storm.
- Have a point of access or egress every 25 feet.
- Pile spoils material which has been removed from the excavation area not closer than two (2) feet from the edge.
- Be protected from cave-ins by sloping, stepping or shoring.

HEIGHTS GREATER THAN SIX (6) FEET

Employees when working at heights greater than six (6) feet without any barriers, guardrails or other protection will:

- Be trained in the use and care of fall protection equipment.
- Use fall protection equipment.
- Not be raise to any height in the bucket or forks of equipment unless an adequate work platform with guardrails has been provided.
- Be alert to electrical overhead lines.

CONFINED SPACES

Prior to working in a confined space, employees are to be instructed in the hazards involved, the precautions to be taken, and the use of PPE and emergency equipment. A confined space means a space that (1) is large enough and so configured that an employee can bodily enter and perform assigned work; (2) has limited or restricted means for entry or exit (for example, tanks, vessels, silos, storage bins, hoppers, vaults, and pits are spaces that may have limited means of entry); and (3) is not designed for continuous employee occupancy.